IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 23 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

CLIFTON WINFIELD, NIGEL WINFIELD, NIKKI WINFIELD, a minor, by and through her: father and next friend, MALCOLM WINFIELD and FRANK: MARANO,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 64,793 vs.

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION, ROBERT M. SMITH, JR., and GARY RUTLEDGE,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

LEEN & SCHNEIDER Attorneys for Petitioners 2450 Hollywood Blvd., Suite 501 Hollywood, Florida 33020 Telephone: (305) 920-1200 945-4851 (Dade)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Whenever reference to the Appendix is made, the symbol (A) will be used herein.

The Respondents, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION, DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, will be referred to as "DIVISION"; Respondent, ROBERT M. SMITH, JR., will be referred to as "SMITH"; and Respondent, GARY RUTLEDGE, will be referred to as "RUTLEDGE". The Petitioners will be referred to by their full names except where the clarity of the context will best be served by reference to their first names only.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Respondent, DIVISION, is an agency of the State of Florida.

The Respondent, SMITH, is the Director of the DIVISION. The Respondent, RUTLEDGE, was the Director of the DIVISION immediately preceding SMITH and is currently the Secretary of the Department of Business Regulation. All of the records which are the subject matter of this case are part of the DIVISION'S files in Miami, Florida.

On August 17, 1981, the DIVISION issued three (3) investigative subpoenas (A. 9-10, 13-14) under the signature of its then Director, RUTLEDGE, and caused same to be served without notice to Petitioners, upon three (3) banks in Broward County, Florida. The subpoenas requested the production of banking and financial records of NIGEL WINFIELD, MALCOLM WINFIELD, and various corporations. The banks were specifically requested not to disclose the existence of the request for information for a period of ninety (90) days and further admonished that any disclosure to the depositor/customer could "obstruct and impede" the investigation being conducted and thereby "interfere with the enforcement of the law." (A. 14, 15). The records requested by the subpoenas were in fact produced by the banks to the DIVISION, without notice to the depositor/customer, and became a part of the DIVISION'S files (A.5).

On December 18, 1981, the DIVISION issued a fourth (4th) subpoena (A. 11-12) under the signature of its Director, SMITH, and caused same to be served without notice to Petitioners, upon the Custodian of Records of the Transamerican Bank of Florida, Cooper City, Florida. Said subpoena requested the production of certain banking records of Winfield Racing Stables, Inc. The Transamerican Bank complied with said subpoena and produced the documents requested without notice to the depositor/customer. Said documents became a part of the DIVISION'S files (A.5).

On February 28, 1983, Petitioners, CLIFTON WINFIELD, NIGEL WINFIELD and NIKKI WINFIELD filed suit in Broward County Circuit Court seeking, inter alia, a declaratory judgment that the aforementioned subpoenas duces tecum violated Petitioners' constitutional rights of privacy and due process, and an Order commanding the Respondents to immediately turn over to the Petitioners the original and all copies of the banking and financial records received pursuant to said subpoenas (A.1-16). Petitioners' Complaint essentially alleged that the subpoenas were facially invalid, that they violated Petitioners' rights to privacy and due process and, further, that maintaining said records in the DIVISION'S files and making them available to public inspection, as the DIVISION is required under Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (1981), constituted an additional violation of their constitutional rights to privacy (A.1-16).

On the same date that the aforementioned Complaint was filed,
Petitioners sought and obtained an ex parte temporary restraining
order commanding the Respondents to "hand over to [Petitioners']
counsel the original and all copies of the confidential banking
and financial records of [Petitioners] in [Respondent's]
possession" (A.17-21). The Respondents were further ordered to

refrain from taking any action, directly or indirectly, that would cause or permit any person to conceal, copy, inspect, utilize, alter, destroy, disseminate or publish those records or the information contained in them (A.21).

On or about February 21, 1983, Respondents agreed, through counsel, to turn over the records encompassed by the temporary restraining order to the court for safekeeping pending a hearing on the matter (A.24-25). Said records were in fact turned over to the presiding circuit court judge.

On February 25, 1983, Petitioner, MALCOLM WINFIELD, filed suit in Broward County Circuit Court seeking declaratory and injunctive relief identical to that requested by CLIFTON, NIGEL and NIKKI WINFIELD in the former complaint (A.26-42). However, while the former complaint alleged that CLIFTON, NIGEL and NIKKI WINFIELD "are neither licensed nor seeking licensure pursuant to Chapter 550" (A.6), no such allegation was made regarding MALCOLM WINFIELD (A.27-42). Nevertheless, simultaneous with the filing of his

complaint, MALCOLM WINFIELD sought and obtained an ex parte temporary restraining order substantially similar to the temporary restraining order in the suit filed by CLIFTON, NIGEL and NIKKI WINFIELD (A.43-46), The only significant difference was that the former temporary restraining order commanded the Respondents to turn the records over to Petitioners' counsel while the latter order was altered to provide that said records were to be turned over to the court (A.44).

Petitioner, MALCOLM WINFIELD, moved to consolidate the two cases (A.47-49) and, by Agreed Order dated February 28, 1983, the cases were consolidated by the latter case being transferred to the presiding circuit judge in whose division the initial complaint had been filed.

On March 3, 1983, the DIVISION'S Motion to Dissolve the Temporary Restraining Orders was called up for hearing along with the Motion of the Petitioners for an Order extending the Temporary Restraining Order dated February 18, 1983 (A.52-53, 93).

The Motion to Dissolve presented by the DIVISION contained five (5) exhibits which were attached to the motion (A.56-92). The first exhibit was a certified copy of a 1981 ruling of the New York State Racing and Wagering Board denying an occupational license to NIGEL WINFIELD (A.62-75). The second exhibit was

an Administrative Complaint issued by the DIVISION against MALCOLM WINFIELD (A.76-78). The third exhibit was an Amended Administrative Complaint against MALCOLM WINFIELD (A.79-89). The fourth exhibit was a Motion for Continuance filed by MALCOLM WINFIELD'S counsel in an administrative matter pending before the Division of Administrative Hearings (A.90-91). The fifth exhibit was an Affidavit by Respondent SMITH (A.92).

The Motion to Dissolve stated, essentially, two (2) grounds for dissolving the temporary restraining orders. The first ground was improper venue. The second was the failure of Petitioners' Complaint and Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order to meet the four-pronged test for granting injunctive relief.

In dismissing the DIVISION'S argument that the action had been brought in the wrong county, the presiding circuit court judge ruled that the "sword wielder" doctrine applied and that venue was proper in the county where the subpoenas had been served:

...although the Department would be entitled ordinarily to have any action taken against it in...Miami or Tallahassee, I think where the Department has a subpoena which comes into or has the effect of coming into Broward County, securing what records are ordinarily entitled to absolute privacy and takes them down and makes them a part of the public record, no notification, no hearing, nothing else, I think that this, this is so seriously fraught with the potential of abuse that it can't

constitutionally be tolerated because a person could have all his affairs spread out before the general public who may have not entitlement to them in a matter in which he himself is not in there or is there a possibility he will ever be one of the participants or directly related to or in any practical way actually related; and therefore, since this is attempted in Broward County, I think that the court has to extend a protection against an incursion of this sort (A.112-113).

The trial court then considered the DIVISION'S argument that the Petitioner's Complaint and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order failed to meet the four-pronged test for granting injunctive relief. In rejecting the DIVISION'S argument, the presiding circuit judge relied upon the Petitioners' State and Federal right of privacy as reflected by his written order of March 3, 1983, which stated in pertinent part as follows:

This Court, having considered said motions and having been fully advised in the premises, finds that the Defendants were acting with probable cause and within the scope of their jurisdiction and authority in obtaining these records by subpoena. The Court further finds, however, that said records, having become a part of the Defendant DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING'S public files pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, are subject to public disclosure, in possible violation of Plaintiff's rights to privacy under the Federal and Florida Constitutions...(A.129-130).

Said order was immediately appealed to the District Court (A.127-128).

On January 11, 1984, the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, reversed, upholding the authority of Respondents to issue and serve the four (4) subpoenas without notice to Petitioners.

However, the District Court was concerned with the impact that Article I Section 23 had, if any, upon the Petitioners' expectations of privacy in their banking records and therefore certified to this court the following questions to be of great public importance:

- 1. Does Article I Section 23 of the Florida Constitution prevent the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering from subpoenaing a Florida citizen's bank records without notice?
- 2. Does the subpoenaing of <u>all</u> of a citizen's bank records under the facts of this case constitute an impermissible and unbridled exercise of legislative power?

POINT I

DOES ARTICLE I SECTION 23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION PREVENT THE DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING FROM SUBPOENAING A FLORIDA CITI-ZEN'S BANK RECORDS WITHOUT NOTICE?

Implicit within the question of whether Article I Section 23 of the Florida Constitution prevents the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering from subpoenaing a Florida citizen's banking records without notice, is the threshold question of whether Florida law recognizes an individual's legitimate expectation of privacy in financial institution records.

In addressing this threshold question, the Petitioners submit that there is evolving case law and statutory authority supporting the emergence of such a privacy interest and that the prevailing trend is to recognize the existence of such a right in private, non-governmental relationships.

It is difficult to imagine that in this day and age a bank would consider itself at liberty to indiscriminately disclose the intimate details of its depositor/customers' accounts and records to private, non-governmental third parties. However, prior to Milohnich v. First National Bank of Miami Springs, 224 So2d 759 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1969), no reported case in this state addressed a

bank's duty of non-disclosure regarding its customer's records.

In <u>Milohnich</u>, the question presented was whether a bank was under an implied contractual duty not to disclose information concerning a depositor's account to private, non-governmental, third persons unless authorized by law or with the consent of the depositor. In finding that such a duty existed, the court relied in part upon <u>Peterson v. Idaho First National Bank</u>, 83 Idaho 578, 367
P2d 284 (1961), wherein it was stated, "Inviolate secrecy is one of the inherent and fundamental precepts of the relationship of the bank and its customers or depositors." The court in <u>Milohnich</u> went on to note that the banking industry has long recognized a self-imposed duty of non-disclosure, 224 So2d at 761, and that a general banking policy of non-disclosure was recognized nearly forty (40) years ago in <u>United States v. First National Bank of Mobile</u>, 67 F.Supp. 616, at 624 (S.D. Ala. 1946).

In addition to <u>Milohnich</u>, it should be observed that §665.042, Fla. Stats, recognizes a limited right of confidentiality in customers' books, records, and accounts maintained by institutions governed under Chapter 665, Banks and Banking, Florida Statutes.

The court in Milohnich has not been alone in its recognition of a depositor's right of confidentiality in his banking records.

Without any explicit privacy provision in their state constitutions, courts in Pennsylvania, Colorado and Oklahoma have held that an individual has a legitimate expectation of privacy in his financial records. See Commonwealth v. De John, 403 A2d 1283 (Pa. 1979); Charnes v. DiGiacomo, 612 P2d 1117 (Col. 1980); and Djowhartzadeh v. City National Bank and Trust Company, 646 P2d 616 (Ok. App. 1982).

Thus, between private, non-governmental parties, it is recognized in this state and others that an expectation of privacy exists within the banker/depositor relationship.

Assuming this Court answers the penultimate question in the affirmative, the Petitioners submit that the recently enacted privacy amendment compels similar recognition of this heretofore private right between private parties when a state agency, rather than a private, non-governmental third party, secretly seeks to obtain an individual's banking records.

On November 4, 1980, the voters of this state approved the creation of a new and independent state right of privacy to be added to the Declaration of Rights in the Florida Constitution. In approving this Amendment, Florida became the fourth (4th) state -- after California, Montana and Alaska -- to adopt a "strong right of privacy"

as part of its state constitution. See Cope, A Quick Look at Florida's New Right of Privacy, 55 Fla. Bar J. 12 (Jan. 1981)

Prior to the privacy amendment's enactment, the status of an individual's right of privacy in Florida, as against governmental intrusion, was best illustrated by Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid & Associates, Ltd., 379 So2d 633 (1980), wherein this Court noted that the state and federal right of privacy had been strictly limited to three (3) protected interests:

...an individual's interest in being secure from unwarranted governmental surveillance and intrusion into his private affairs; a person's interest in decisional autonomy on personally intimate matters; and an individual's interest in protecting against disclosure of personal matters. 379 So2d at 636.

As it relates to the first interest, "in being secure from unwarranted governmental surveillance and intrusion into his private affairs", this Court pointed out that:

... The parameters of this interest have been repeatedly delineated over the years by the Supreme Court, and, as a result, governmental intrusion upon activity safeguarded by this interest can be readily identified and remedied by this court. 379 So2d at 636.

Under the United States Constitution, the issue of whether banking records may be subpoenaed by the government without notice to the depositors was laid to rest in <u>United States v. Miller</u>, 425 US 435 (1976). In <u>Miller</u>, the court held that banking records did not fall within a protected screen of privacy and were not "private papers" protected by the Fourth Amendment. 425 US at 440.

While no pre-privacy amendment Florida case addressed the precise question now presented, it seems likely from the language contained in <u>Shevin</u> that prior to November 4, 1980, the courts of this state would not recognize a state right of privacy which provided any more protection than the federal constitution regarding an individual's expectation of privacy in banking records.

However, by adopting Article I Section 23, the people of this state have exercised their perogative and opted for a state created right of privacy, independent of federal constitutional protection in this area. It is a state right that logic dictates is broader in scope than that protected by federal constitutional law.

...since the citizens...enacted an Amendment to the...Constitution expressly providing for a right of privacy not found in the United States Constitution, it can only be concluded that the right is broader in scope than that of a Federal Constitution. Ravin v. State, 537 P2d 494, 514-15 (Ak. 1975).

Merely because the courts of this state may have previously deferred to federal precedent in delineating its citizens' rights of privacy, the United States Supreme Court has made it clear that the state, not the federal courts, are responsible for the protection of its citizens' general rights of privacy. Katz v. United States, 389 US 347, 350-51 (1967). In this regard, this Court has recognized that the concept of federalism permits the state to provide its citizens greater individual protection than exists under the federal constitution.

...surely the citizens of Florida, through their state constitution, may provide themselves with more protection from governmental intrusion that that afforded by the United States Constitution. A fundamental task of the judiciary is to safeguard the constitutional rights of the citizenry. State v. Sarmiento, 397 So2d 643, 645 (1981).

In interpreting the impact of Article I Section 23 upon the issue under consideration, the Petitioners submit that decisions

in other states which have enacted similar constitutional protection may prove helpful.

In <u>Valley Bank of Nevada v. Superior Court of San Joaquin County</u>, 542 P2d 977 (Cal. 1975), the court mandated predisclosure notification to bank customers when a financial institution received a civil subpoena so that the customer could, if he choose, assert his privacy interest. This holding was based upon a recognition of the reasonable expectation of privacy which a bank customer entertains with respect to financial information disclosed to his bank.

In <u>Valley Bank</u>, the court reached this position by adopting a balancing approach between the competing considerations of the customer's right of privacy and the interests of the one seeking disclosure. Noting that protection of a bank customer's or depositor's privacy interests should not be left entirely to the election of third persons who may have their personal reasons for permitting or resisting disclosure, the court required the banks to notify a customer whose records had been subpoenaed. 542 P2d at 979.

Although <u>Valley Bank</u> applied to disclosure in the court of civil discovery proceedings, subsequent California cases have recognized

the concerns that motivated that court in <u>Valley Bank</u> and have extended protected privacy interests against demands during administrative agency investigations; <u>Board of Medical Quality Assurance v. Gherardini</u>, 93 Cal. App. 3d 669, 156 Cal. Rptr. 55 (App. 1979); and attorney disciplinary proceeding brought by the state bar, <u>Doyle v. State Bar of California</u>, 648 P2d 944 (Cal. 1982).

<u>Doyle</u> is particularly significant since attorney disciplinary proceedings in California, like in this state, are conducted in strict confidence. Yet, the state bar was required to give predisclosure notification to third parties whose records were being sought even though those records would never be made public. No such guarantee of confidentiality exists in connection with the investigation brought by the Respondents.

Under Chapter 119, Public Records, Florida Statutes, and the express provisions of Article I Section 23 of the Florida Constitution (the right of privacy "shall not be construed to limit the public's right of access to public records") it is certain that the Petitioners banking and account records obtained in connection with this investigation will become "public records" subject to disclosure to any individual simply upon request.

Thus, the potential of disclosure to the world, not just the agency involved, is a further consideration suggesting the necessity of affording an individual the timely opportunity to object to the wholesale disclosure of his financial affairs prior to that material being obtained by a state agency during a non-criminal investigation.

Several timely articles have appeared in the Florida Bar Journal addressing the state's newly enacted privacy amendment in general and financial privacy in particular. See, Cope, A Quick Look at Florida's New Right of Privacy, supra; Weatherly, Confidentiality of Financial Institution Customer Relation in Florida, 58 Fla. Bar J. 33 (Jan. 84). Both articles convincingly argue that the courts of this state should extend this new individual right to protection of a person's banking records against secret governmental intrusion. Furthermore, on the federal level, recent legislation, 26 U.S.C. §7609 (1983) has superceded the effect of Miller and requires that even the IRS give notice prior to seizure of bank records.

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