IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILE SID J. WHITE APR 23 1964 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Childs Queputy Cleank

CLIFTON WINFIELD, NIGEL WINFIELD, NIKKI WINFIELD, a minor, by and through her father and next friend MALCOLM WINFIELD and FRANK MARANO,

Petitioners,

vs.

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION, ROBERT M. SMITH, JR., and GARY RUTLEDGE, CASE NO.: 64-793

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING ROBERT M. SMITH JR., and GARY RUTLEDGE

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

ARGUMENT

A. Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution by its very terms excepts contrary Constitutional Provisions from protection. This exception must incorporate Article I, Section 12 and federal case law on seizure of bank records by governmental entities.

The first issue certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal requires that this Court determine the threshhold issue of whether Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution (1980) extends a constitutional right of privacy to a bank customer over deposit slips, cancelled checks, and bank statements in the possession of a bank. If this Court determines that a customer/depositor hasn't a legitimate expectation of privacy over said records then that determination will be dispositive of this appeal.

Article I Section 23 states as follows:

RIGHT OF PRIVACY. - Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein. This section shall not be construed to limit the public's right of access to public records and meetings as provided by law. (emphasis added).

By its very terms, then, the right of privacy provision is: (1) made subservient to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (1983), the

-6-

Public Records Act; and. (2) is to be read in conformity with other constitutional provisions. As Judge Glickstein stated in his Article I. Section 23 of the Florida concurring opinion. Constitution excepts privacy interests covered by contrary constitutional provisions. Judge Glickstein further notes that in this case the privacy interest asserted by Petitioners is covered by Article I. Section 12 of the Florida Constitution as amended in 1982. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering v. Winfield, Case No. 83-464 (Fla. 4th DCA January 11, 1984) [9 FLW 159, 160].

Article I, Section 12 states, in pertinent part:

The right of the people to be secure in persons, houses. papers their and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures... shall not be violated... right shall This be construed in conformity with the 4th Amendment the United States Constitution, to interpreted by the United States as Supreme Court.

There can be no doubt that the privacy interest raised by Petitioners in this appeal is precisely that interest addressed in Article I, Section 12. In <u>Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schaffer, Reid</u> <u>& Associates</u>, 379 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1980), decided before the enactment of Article I, Section 23 but thoroughly consistent with the privacy provision, this Court examined the right of privacy to the extent that it has been recognized under the Constitution of the United States and in Florida. The Court noted that the right of privacy has been strictly limited to three protected interests:

> an individual's interest in being secure from unwarranted governmental surveillance and intrusion into his private affairs; a person's interest in decisional autonomy on personally

> > -7-

intimate matters; and an individual's interest in protecting against disclosure of personal matters.

379. So. 2d at 636.

The latter two interests set forth in <u>Shevin</u>, decisional autonomy and disclosural privacy, are not before this Court in the instant appeal. The first interest, "in being secure from unwarranted governmental surveillance and intrusion into his private affairs," is the very interest raised by Petitioners in this appeal (Petitioners' Brief pp. 12-13) and is the privacy interest protected by Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. "The parameters of this interest," in the words of the <u>Shevin</u> opinion, "have been repeatedly delineated over the year by the Supreme Court..." 379 So. 2d at 636. A review of Supreme Court and federal case law, beginning with the leading case of <u>United States v. Miller</u>, 425 U.S. 435 (1976), will reveal that a depositor/customer has no protected interest in the contents of records in the possession of a bank under the Florida Constitution.

In <u>Miller</u>, the Supreme Court held that bank records, subpoenaed by the government without notice to a depositor under investigation, did not fall within a protected zone of privacy and were not "private papers," protected by the Fourth Amendment. 425 U.S. 440. In reaching its conclusion, the Court noted that bank records "are the business records of the banks" which the depositors can assert "neither ownership nor possession." 425 U.S 440. Justice Powell, writing for the majority, cited with approval the decision of the

-8-

Court in <u>California Bankers Ass'n v. Shultz</u>, 416 U.S. 21 (1974), wherein the Court stated:

[b]anks are... not... neutrals in transactions involving negotiable instruments, but parties to the instruments with a substantial stake in their continued availability and acceptance.

416 U.S. 48-49.

The Court further noted that there is no legitimate "expectation of privacy" in the contents of original checks and deposit slips in the possession of a bank. <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 442. This is so, even if the depositor believes that the records are confidential.

> This Court has held repeatedly that the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit the obtaining of information revealed to a third party and conveyed by him to Government authorities, even if the information is revealed on the assumption that it will be used only for a limited purpose and the confidence placed in the third party will not be betrayed.

425. U.S. 443. Since no Fourth Amendment interests of the depositor were implicated by the government's action, the Court in <u>Miller</u> applied the general rule:

the issuance of subpoena to a third party to obtain the records of that party does not violate the rights of a defendant, even if a criminal prosecution is contemplated at the time the subpoena is issued.

425 U.S. 444. Thus the depositors in <u>Miller</u> were held to lack the requisite Fourth Amendment interest to challenge the government's action.

The <u>Miller</u> doctrine has been applied in the federal courts in several cases dealing with constitutional challenges to Internal Revenue Service subpoena of bank records. <u>See. e.g.</u>, <u>United States</u> <u>v. First National Bank of Black Hills, Mt. View</u>, 626 F.2d 605 (8th Cir. 1980); <u>United States v. Climbing Hill Savings Bank</u>, 634 F.2d 1086 (8th Cir. 1980); <u>United States v. Feminist Federal Credit</u> <u>Union</u>, 635 F.2d 529 (6th Cir. 1980): <u>United States v. Rhoads</u>, 617 F.2d 1313 (8th Cir. 1980); <u>United States v. Stuart</u>, 587 F.2d 929 (8th Cir. 1978; and <u>United States v. Fulton</u>, 536 F.2d 1027 (5th Cir. 1976). The principle applied in the above cases is that

> A summons directed to a third party bank does not violate the Fourth Amendment rights of a depositor under investigation since the records belong to the bank, not the depositor.

<u>United States v. First National Bank of Black Hills, Mt. View,</u> supra, 626 F.2d at 607.

The right of third parties to raise a constitutional challenge to a search and seizure conducted on the premises of another was recently addressed by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Cushing</u>, <u>v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 416 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1982). In <u>Cushing</u>, the court held that a physician did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy with respect to completed prescriptions in the possession of a pharmacy and that the statutorily authorized search by the Department of Professional Regulation, without a warrant, was constitutionally permissible. In doing so, the court considered an argument similar to the one raised by the Petitioners in the instant case:

-10-

Finally, we regard as frivolous the appellants' argument that the result as to either the search or the evidentiary issue is changed or even affected by the right of privacy provision of the Florida Constitution. Article I, Section 23, Florida Constitution (1980)...

416 So.2d at 1198. Thus at least one Florida court has recognized that the new Florida privacy provision does not extend an expectation of privacy where one previously did not exist. In line with the <u>Miller</u> decision, et. seq., <u>Cushing</u> holds that one does not have an expectation of privacy over business records in the possession of another. <u>Cf.</u>, <u>Adams v. State</u>, 436 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) where the court concluded that one does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy under Article I, Section 23 when transacting business in a place of business open to the public.

The foregoing federal and Florida cases establish that there is no expectation of privacy in business records in the possession of another. When Article I, Section 23 is read in conformity with Article I, Section 12 as amended in 1982, it is clear that the Respondents have violated none of Petitioners' constitutional rights in obtaining these records. It follows then, that if Petitioners have no assertable right of privacy with regard to records in the possession of a bank, the Respondents could not have violated Petitioners' rights under Article I, Section 23, by failing to notify them prior to the seizure of the records.

Ń

-11-

ARGUMENT

B. Even if a bank customer/depositor has some expectation of privacy in records in the possession of a bank, said expectations is at most a minimal and does not justify a rule requiring pre seizure notice by governmental agencies.

Respondents would assert that a bank customer/depositor has no legitimate expectation of privacy over deposit slips, cancelled checks and bank statements in the possession of a bank under either the Florida or federal constitution. A finding by this Court that no such expectation of privacy exists will be dispositive of this appeal. On the other hand, if this Court concludes that a bank customer has some expectation of privacy in bank records, then respondents would assert that said expectation has only been recognized in bank-customer relationships and has <u>never</u> been invoked to require a state agency to provide pre-seizure notice to persons under investigation.

Petitioners' sole case authority in Florida for the existence of a bank customer/depositor's expectation of privacy in bank records is <u>Milonich v. First National Bank of Miami Springs</u>, 224 So.2d 759 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969). In <u>Milonich</u>, the plaintiff bank depositor charged that the defendant bank negligently divulged information concerning plaintiff's accounts to third parties. The complaint alleged an implied contractual duty owed by the bank to its depositor to maintain the confidentiality of the bank records. In holding than an implied duty does exist between bank and customer, the court went on to note:

-12-

.

-

This opinion does not attempt to deal with the disclosures of a national bank relating to loan information, safe deposit rentals, general credit information between banks, <u>disclosure required by the</u> government or under compulsion of law or disclosure made with the express or implied consent of the customer... These issues are not before us (emphasis added).

224 So. 2d at 762. <u>See also Hagaman v. Andrews</u>, 232 So. 2d 1, 8-9 (Fla. 1970).

Thus the sole Florida decision relied upon the Petitioners, when considered in its entirety, hardly supports the view that there is a reasonable expectation that bank records will not be released to a governmental agency, pursuant to subpoena, without notice. At most, <u>Milonich</u> stands for the proposition that a person has a reasonable expectation that a bank will not indiscriminately release his account records to a private party. In any case, the banks' liability is not in issue in the case sub-judice and <u>Milonich</u> has no application to the constitutional right of privacy.

In addition to the <u>Milonich</u> decision, Petitioners make reference to the "prevailing trend" to recognize an expectation of confidentiality in private, non-governmental relationships, and cite two cases from California recognizing such an expectation with respect to agency investigations (Petitioners' Brief pp. 9,16).

Before analyzing Petitioners' cited authority in other jurisdictions, it should be noted here that while the Fourth District framed its issue in terms of the average "citizen," the "average

-13-

-

citizen's" records were not subpoenaed and obtained by the DIVISION. MALCOLM WINFIELD was a licensed horse owner who raced thoroughbred race horses in the State of Florida. (A.79-89) NIGEL WINFIELD is a convicted felon who, along with MALCOLM, was under investigation in New York and Florida for allegedly racing his own horses under his father's name, in violation of various statutes and rules, at the time the subpoenas were issued (A.62-89). The subpoenaed records were evidence that the DIVISION intended to introduce at an administrative hearing. The Fourth District's issue, therefore, misapprehends the parties who are rightfully before this Court, largely because the Petitioners have alleged from the beginning (A.5) and continue to allege (Petitioners' Brief p.18) that the Respondents subpoenaed the records of CLIFTON and NIKKI WINFIELD. One look at the subpoenas under review (A.9-14, 35-36) will reveal that the Petitioners have misrepresented the parties whose records were obtained from the banks by the DIVISION. While it may be tactically wise for Petitioners to make their best case by alluding to the DIVISION's obtaining records of uninvolved persons, it is not the If the DIVISION received any records that make reference to truth. CLIFTON and NIKKI WINFIELD they are the corporate records of the family-held corporations. As noted earlier, the corporations are not parties to this action and, in any event, Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution which extends a right of privacy to "natural persons" does not even agruably protect the privacy rights of corporations.

-14-

The fact that the DIVISION subpoenaed the bank records of persons under investigation is important when considering the California decisions cited by Petitioners. An analysis of those decisions will reveal that they offer no support to Petitioners' argument.

<u>Division of Medical Quality v. Gherardini</u>, 93 Cal. App.3d 669, 156 Cal. Rptr.55 (Cal. App. 4th 1979) concerned an investigation of the California Medical Board into alleged improprieties by a licensee-doctor. The Board wanted to examine the complete medical-hospital records of five named patients of the doctor and issued and served a subpoena on the custodian of records of the doctor's hospital.

What is significant about the <u>Gherardini</u> decision within the context of the case <u>sub-judice</u> is that the California court was <u>not</u> concerned with the privacy interests of the doctor who was under investigation and stated that the Board's right to "reasonably regulate the licensee-doctor is not in dispute." 93 Cal. App.3d 675. It was the rights of the innocent <u>patients</u> which the court was scrutinizing. Thus <u>Gherardini</u> is distinguishable from the instant case in at least 3 respects:

1. The subpoena called for the records of a person not under investigation and it is the innocent third party that the court was interested in protecting. 93 Cal. App.3d 675.

-15-

2. The innocent third party, a patient, was protected by a traditional, and in California a statutory, privilege (patient-physician) which created a zone of privacy whose purposes are, among other things, "to preclude the humiliation of the patient that might follow disclosure of his ailments." 93 Cal. App.3d 678.

3. The information sought by the Board, the patients' medical profile, "is an area infinitely more intimate, more personal in quality and nature" than the area of financial or banking records. 93 Cal. App. 3d.678.

In Doyle v. State Bar of California, 32 Cal.3d 12, 184 Cal. Rptr.720, 648 p.2d 942 (1982) the Supreme Court of California had before it a case similar to Gherardini. In Doyle, the California Bar sought a licensed attorney's trust account records and obtained same by subpoena. Once again the court was only concerned with the privacy interests of the client and not the attorney under investigation. The court held that the Bar's procedure in obtaining these trust accounts without notice to the clients was not an unconstitutional invasion of privacy while noting that a procedure for notification of the clients prior to disclosure was preferable. Eventhough the client in Doyle expressly withheld his consent to disclosure of the financial records, the court found that good cause for disclosure "clearly existed" and that the Bar's need for the information in the conduct of its investigation overrided the client's refusal. 648 P.2d 946.

-16-

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